ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 


1. 	 Whether the Panel mistakenly applied Michigan law, rather than West Virginia 
law, to at least two of Baby M.'s claims, where those claims do not fall within the 
plain text of the choice oflaw statute, West Virginia Code § 55-8-16(a) (2011), 
and where the Panel previously concluded that Michigan law provided no 
meaningful remedy for Baby M.'s injuries? 

2. 	 Whether, assuming Michigan law applied, the Panel wrongly granted summary 
judgment where Baby M. presented more than enough disputed, material facts to 
proceed to trial on the merits of Baby M. 's claims? 

3. 	 Whether the Panel erred in holding that a provision of Michigan products liability 
that permits Baby M. to rebut a defendant's FDA-compliance defense is impliedly 
preempted by the federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act where well-settled 
principles of federalism require courts to presume that the historic police powers 
of the States were not preempted absent the "clear and manifest" intent of 
Congress, and where preempting the provision at issue would leave Baby M. 
without a state or federal remedy? 

INTRODUCTION 

Filed over four years ago, this case is an effort to recover for in utero injuries sustained 

by Baby M.-birth defects that were caused by her mother's ingestion of the drug sertraline 

hydrochloride, commonly known as Zoloft, an antidepressant drug manufactured and marketed 

by Respondents. 

Throughout the case, however, Respondents have consistently throw-up procedural 

roadblocks to prevent Baby M. and other families from even trying to prove their products 

liability and related claims. Respondents removed the case to federal court. It was remanded. 

They appealed to the Fourth Circuit. And lost. They prematurely attempted to refer Baby M.'s 

case to the Mass Litigation Panel. It was denied. Later, after Baby M. 's case was consolidated 

with another action, and while a new motion to refer the case to the Panel was pending, 

Respondents again removed the case to federal court. It was again remanded. 



Back in state court, with the consolidated cases referred to the Panel, Respondents 

attempted to use Rule of Civil Procedure 3(a) to carve up the consolidated cases into twenty-five 

individual civil actions-an outcome that would have surely led to (yet another) removal. 

Thankfully, this Court unanimously intervened to stop that effort in State ex reI. Jc. v. Mazzone, 

233 W. Va. 457, 759 S.E.2d 200 (2014) ("Mazzone 1'). 

Again before the Panel, Respondents launched a new flurry of motions to stop Baby M.'s 

case. Nearly two years after the action was initiated, Respondents moved to dismiss Baby M.'s 

claims, among others, based on/arum non conveniens. The Panel denied the motion as to Baby 

M. because the law of the alternative forum (Michigan) provided no real remedy. Respondents 

also filed a motion to dismiss under Michigan law. It too was denied. But after Baby M., among 

others, filed an amended complaint, Respondents sought a second bite at the apple, this time 

moving for summary judgment as to Baby M.'s claims on the same grounds presented in their 

earlier motions to dismiss (which, as noted, were denied as to Baby M.). This time, the Panel 

granted the motion. 

The Panel, however, made several mistakes in entering judgment against Baby M. First, 

the Panel incorrectly determined that Michigan-not West Virginia-law applied to Baby M.'s 

strict products liability and negligence claims. Second, even if Michigan law applied, the Panel's 

decision granting summary judgment misses the mark where so many disputed, material facts 

permeate the record. Finally, the Panel's holding that a provision of Michigan law on which 

Baby M. would rely to rebut Respondents' compliance defense is preempted misapplies well

settled principles of federalism. 

The Panel should be reversed. 
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STATEMENT OF THE CASE 


This case arose from injuries sustained by Baby M., a Michigan resident who suffiered 

birth defects caused by in utero exposure to Zoloft, a prescription antidepressant drug ingested 

by Baby M. 's mother. Zoloft, which is used to treat several disorders that include major 

depression, acute post traumatic stress, and panic disorder, was manufacturerd and marketed by 

Respondents Pfizer, Inc., Roerig, and Greenstone, LLC. 

I. 	 Respondent PilZer has known for years that pregnant women should not take 
Zoloft, which threatens the health of their unborn children. 

Baby M. has presented significant evidence showing that Respondent Pfizer has been 

accumulating information for years showing that Zoloft is not safe for use by preganant women, 

and that Respondent Pfizer has not adequately warned about these risks. See App. 1762-66. This 

information included, among other things, mutiple studies and reports done by Respondents over 

the course of many years, which indicated the significant health risks associated with Zoloft and 

pregnancy. See App. 1763-64. 

Moreover, Pfizer maintains a Core Data Sheet ("CDS") for each of its drugs, including 

Zoloft, which "represents the scientific, medical and core safety information for a Pfizer 

product" and contains "the minimum safety information that must be present in the IPI and all 

local (Country) product labeling." App. 1764. Pfizer's CDS for Zoloft has contained the 

following statement in section 4.6.3 ofthe "Pregnancy and Lactation" section: "Women of 

childbearing potential should employ an adequate method of contraception if taking sertraline." 

Id. Yet physicians in the United States never received these warnings. 

Baby M. alleges that, in Zoloft's 2009 labeling specifically, Pfizer failed to warn 

physicians that Zoloft use in pregnancy carries an increased risk of birth defects, and that women 

should use contraception while on Zoloft. App. 950-988 (Amended Complaint). 
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II. Baby M. 's case was filed in 2012 and has still not been tried. 

Baby M. is one of nineteen children who, through their mothers, filed a 2012 complaint 

in Wayne County Circuit Court alleging products liability and negligence claims against 

Respondents. The tangled procedural history of this case, at least through the spring of2015, is 

well-known to the Court. See State ex rei. J.c. ex rei. Michelle C. v. Mazzone, 235 W. Va. 151, 

153-56, 772 S.E.2d 336, 338-41 (2015) ("Mazzone 11'). In short, Baby M.'s case was eventually 

consolidated with another case and then transferred to the Mass Litigation Panel on January 14, 

2014. 

But after the two cases were referred to the Panel, the judges told the plaintiffs that the 

Panel interpreted Rule 3(a) to mean that the two complaints filed were actually twenty-five 

separate civil actions, and an order regarding the same followed. The plaintiffs, including Baby 

M., then filed a petition for a writ of prohibition to prevent enforcement of that order separating 

the litigation into twenty-five cases, which this Court granted in Mazzone 1,233 W. Va. 457, 759 

S.E.2d 200. The case was once again remanded to the Panel. 

Back before the Panel, Respondents moved to dismiss Baby M.'s case, and those of 

twenty others brought by non-resident plaintiffs, primarily on the grounds offorum non 

conveniens. App. 126. Although the Panel granted Respondents' motion as to some plaintiffs-a 

decision later affirmed in Mazzone 11,235 W.Va. 151, 772 S.E.2d 336-the Panel denied it as to 

Baby M. 's claims. App. 945-47. 

The Panel first concluded that West Virginia Code § 55-8-16( a) (2011) governed Baby 

M.'s "failure to warn" claim, mandating that Michigan law applied as the place of injury. App. 

946. Critically, however, because the language of Section 16(a) only mentions "failure to warn" 

claims, the Panel concluded that Baby M. 's "other claims [could] still be reviewed under the 
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common law of West Virginia." App. 946. Under this State's common law as developed by this 

Court, the Panel correctly recognized that "the doctrine of lex loci delicti will not be invoked 

where 'the application of the substantive law of a foreign state ... contravenes the public policy 

ofthis State." App. 946 (quoting Mills v. Quality Supplier Trucking, Inc., 203 W. Va. 621,624, 

510 S.E.2d 280, 283 (1998)). The Panel concluded that the exception was triggered as to Baby 

M.'s claims, because "defense counsel admitted that each and every claim raised by [Baby M. 

and another plaintiff] in their complaint would be precluded under Michigan ... law." App. 946

47. In short, the Panel found that Michigan law was "so 'clearly inadequate or unsatisfactory that 

it is no remedy at all.'" App. 947 (quoting Syl. Pt. 9, Mace v. Mylan Pharm., 227 W.Va. 666, 

714 S.E.2d 223 (2011)). The Panel also refused to dismiss as premature Baby M.'s claims under 

Michigan law. App. 949. 

In early 2016, Respondents moved for summary judgment as to Baby M.'s claims, once 

again arguing that Michigan law applied to each ofher claims, and that those claims were also 

barred under Michigan law. App. 1024. This time the Panel agreed, granting Respondents' 

motion for summary judgment. App. 2724. Although the Panel had previously concluded that 

Michigan law provided an inadequate remedy, the Panel determined that the statutory choice of 

law rule, West Virginia Code § 55-8-16(a) (2011), covered all Baby M.'s claims. The Panel 

expressly determined that the order granting summary judgment against Baby M. was a final 

order subject to the provisions of Rule of Civil Procedure 54(b) and thus immediate appellate 

review. App. 2742. 

This appeal followed. 


SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT 


The Panel's order should be reversed for several reasons. 
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First, the Panel's determination that West Virginia Code § 55-8-16(a) (2011) applied to 

all ofBaby M. 's claims, even though the plain language of the statute only addresses failure to 

warn, was wrong. The Panel failed to heed this Court's repeated warnings that the Legislature 

alone writes laws, and that when legislative enactments are unambiguous, the only recourse for 

the judicial branch is to apply the law without regard to policy preferences. The Panel's decision 

improperly conflated Baby M.'s strict products liability and negligence claims with her failure to 

warn claim, in direct contravention to this Court's long-held view that plaintiffs in products 

actions are not required to elect which theory of liability they decide to submit to a jury. See SyI. 

Pt. 6, Ilosky v. Michelin Tire Corp., 172 W. Va. 435, 437, 307 S.E.2d 603, 605 (1983). Urged on 

by Respondents, the Panel effectively made Baby M.'s election for her by concluding that her 

claims were all just being brought under a failure to warn theory, and thus would fall under the 

mandate of Section 16(a). That was error. 

Second, even under Michigan law, the Panel failed to recognize the significant weight of 

disputed evidence showing that Respondents had been made aware of the risks of Zoloft to 

women of childbearing potential, and yet failed to properly ensure that the product was not 

defectively manufactured or sold and that such information was brought to the attention of the 

FDA. 

Finally, the Panel's decision to wipe out even the possibility for Baby M. to rebut 

Respondents' FDA-compliance defense under Michigan law, concluding that the method of 

rebuttal is impliedly preempted by federal law, cries out for correction. Highlighting the 

significance of the preemption issue in this case, the Panel frankly wrote that it would not matter 

how much evidence Baby M. presented to rebut Respondents' FDA-compliance defense because 

federal law impliedly preempted it. This is not and cannot be the law. Under long-established 
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principles of preemption, courts must presume "that the historic police powers of the States were 

not to be superseded by the Federal Act unless that was the clear and manifest purpose of 

Congress." Wyeth v. Levine, 555 U.S. 555,565 (2009) (emphasis added). The Panel also refused 

to follow the leading federal court of appeals to have squarely addressed this issue, Desiano v. 

Warner-Lambert & Co., 467 F.3d 85 (2d Cir. 2006), which concluded that the same Michigan 

law at issue here is not preempted. 

STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION 

Rule 20 argument is necessary because this case presents at least two issues of first 

impression. See W. Va. R. App. P. 20(a)(l). 

A first critical issue in this appeal is the application of West Virginia Code § 55-8-16(a) 

(2011) ("Choice of Law in Pharmaceutical Product Liability Actions"), which the Legislature 

enacted in 2011. See 2011 West Virginia Laws Ch. 1 (S.B. 474). Although the statute was later 

amended in 2015, see W. Va. Code § 55-8-16(a) (2015), no one disputes that the 2011 version 

governs this case. App. 2730. This Court has never had occasion to address either version of 

West Virginia Code § 55-8-16. Both the original enactment at issue here and the 2015 

amendment constitute new efforts by the Legislature to direct how state courts should resolve 

choice oflaw issues in products cases. See 2015 West Virginia Laws Ch. 7 (H.B. 2726). 

A second significant issue in the appeal is whether a statutory defense under Michigan 

products liability law is impliedly preempted under the U.S. Supreme Court's analysis in 

Buckman v. Plaintiffs' Legal Committee, 531 U.S. 341 (2001). This Court has not previously 

addressed the issue. 
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STANDARD OF REVIEW 

The Panel's entry of summary judgment is reviewed de novo. See Syi. Pt. 1, Painter v. 

Peavy, 192 W.Va. 189,451 S.E.2d 755 (1994). Like the Panel below, this Court's "function at 

the summary judgment stage is not to weigh the evidence and determine the truth of the matter 

but to determine whether there is a genuine issue for trial." Id. at 192, 451 S.E.2d at 758 

(quotations omitted). This Court must draw any permissible inference from underlying facts in 

light most favorable to Baby M. as the non-moving party. Id. (quotations omitted). 

All questions oflaw are reviewed de novo. Syi. Pt. 1, Chrystal R.M v. Charlie A.L., 194 

W. Va. 138, 139,459 S.E.2d 415, 416 (1995). 

ARGUMENT 

I. West Virginia law applies to Baby M.'s claims. 

In the decision below, the Panel concluded that West Virginia Code § 55-8-16(a) (2011), 

a statutory choice of law rule, required that Michigan law-not West Virginia's-govems all of 

Baby M.~s claims against Respondents. Even though Baby M. pleaded three products liability 

claims-strict liability, failure to warn, and negligence-the Panel reasoned that they were all 

captured by Section 16(a)'s choice oflaw rule. 

For several reasons, however, the Panel's reasoning sweeps too broadly and should be 

reversed. First, by its own plain text, West Virginia Code § 55-8-16(a) (2011) applies only to 

"failure to warn" claims. Thus, the rule does not apply to Baby M. 's strict liability and 

negligence claims. Second, where Section 16(a) does not clearly apply, the Panel should have 

applied West Virginia law, given the Panel's previous conclusion that Michigan law provides 

Baby M. no meaningful remedy for her injuries. 
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A. 	 The plain text of West Virginia Code § 55-8-16(a) (2011), which establishes 
an exclusive "place of injury" choice of law rule, applies only to Baby M. 's 
failure to warn claim. 

The first error committed by the Panel was its misapplication of the plain language of 

West Virginia Code § 55-8-16(a) (2011). The Panel concluded that, although Baby 

M. was also raising strict liability and negligence claims in addition to a failure to warn claim, 

Section 16(a) controlled them all, meaning that Michigan law applied without regard to other 

other considerations. App. 2733. The version of Section 16(a) applicable to this case reads in full 

as follows: 

It is public policy of this state that, in determining the law applicable to a product 
liability claim brought by a nonresident of this state against the manufacturer or 
distributor of a prescription drug for failure to warn, the duty to warn shall be 
governed solely by the product liability law of the place of injury ("lex loci 
delicti"). 

W. Va. Code § 55-8-16(a) (2011) (emphasis added). 

The plain language of Section 16(a) requires that the law of the place injury governs for 

"failure to warn" claims against drug manufacturers or distributors. Id. Baby M. does not contest 

that her failure to warn claim is governed by Michigan law as the place of injury. The Panel's 

ruling, however, which purports to apply Section 16(a) to all of Baby M.'s other claims

including strict products and negligence claims-effectively added words to the statute. Thus, 

the version of Section 16(a) applied by the Panel would read something like this: 

It is public policy of this state that, in determining the law applicable to a product 
liability claim brought by a nonresident of this state against the manufacturer or 
distributor of a prescription drug for failure to warn, [strict products liability, 
and negligence, these claims] shall be governed solely by the product liability 
law of the place of injury ("lex loci delicti"). 

W. Va. Code § 55-8-16(a) (2011) (as improperly amended by the Panel). 

The Panel's reading must be rejected under longstanding principles of statutory 

interpretation, informed by the separation ofpowers. This Court has "uniformly adhered to the 
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principle that where a statute is plain and Wlambiguous, it is the clear and unmistakable duty of 

the judiciary to merely apply the language." State ex rei. Biafore v. Tomblin, 236 W. Va. 528, 

532, 782 S.E.2d 223, 227 (2016). In short, "[i]fthe statutory text is clear and Wlambiguous, we 

must apply the statute according to its literal terms." ld. This Court "presume[s] that a legislature 

says in a statute what it means and means in a statute what it says." ld. at 533, 782 S.E.2d at 228; 

see also id ("[T]his Court is not permitted to engage in an examination of the public policy 

ramifications potentially resulting from its application or to comment upon the wisdom of the 

legislation as Wlambiguously expressed."). "Just as courts are not to eliminate through judicial 

interpretation words that were purposely included, [courts] are obliged not to add to statutes 

something the Legislature purposely omitted." Young v. Apogee Coal Co., LLC, 232 W. Va. 554, 

561, 753 S.E.2d 52, 59 (2013) (quotations omitted); see also State ex rei. Frazier v. Meadows, 

193 W.Va. 20,24,454 S.E.2d 65, 69 (1994) ("Courts are not free to read into the language what 

is not there, but rather should apply the statute as written."). 

The Panel's explanation that all ofBaby M.'s claims are just a failure to warn claim is not 

persausive. App. 2731. Nor is it supported by the precedent of this Court. In this case, Baby M.'s 

strict products liability and negligence claims are advanced as separate theories of recovery. The 

Panel's decision is precluded by Syllabus Point 6 in Ilosky v. Michelin Tire Corp., which reads in 

full as follows: 

Product liability actions may be premised on three independent theories-strict 
liability, negligence, and warranty. Each theory contains different elements which 
plaintiffs must prove in order to recover. No rational reason exists to require 
plaintiffs in product liability actions to elect which theory to submit to the jury 
after the evidence has been presented when they may elect to bring suit on one or 
all ofthe theories. 

172 W. Va. 435, 437, 307 S.E.2d 603, 605 (1983) (emphasis added); see also Bennett v. Asco 

Servs., Inc., 218 W. Va. 41,48,621 S.E.2d 710, 717 (2005). This Court's precedent is consistent 
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with black-letter products law that "[a] case in which the plaintiff alleges strict product liability 

may also be submitted to the jury on a negligence theory." 5 American Law ofTorts § 18: 19. 

Relevant here, for example, "[a] major distinction between [strict liability and negligence] 

theories is that the inability of a defendant to know or prevent the risk is not a defense in a strict 

liability case but precludes a finding of negligence." Id. (citing cases). 

At bottom, had the Legislature wanted to include all theories of products liability in the 

Section 16(a) choice oflaw rule, it would have done so. But instead, the Legislature specifically 

identified only "failure to warn" claims as those captured by the choice of law rule. And if there 

were any doubt, the fact that Section 16(a) was later amended to capture "all liability claims at 

issue" demonstrates that the Legislature knew what it was doing when it enacted the version at 

issue in this case. If the Panel's reading of Section 16(a) were correct, the 2015 amendments 

would have been unnecessary. Accordingly, this Court must reject Respondents' attempt to read 

words into the applicable version of Section 16(a) that are simply not there. 

B. 	 The Panel previously concluded that West Virginia's public policy exception 
applied because Michigan law provides no meaningful remedy for Baby M. 's 
injuries. 

Because Section 16(a) only applies to Baby M.'s failure to warn claim, her claims for 

strict products liability and negligence are controlled by the common law. See Mills v. Quality 

Supplier Trucking, Inc., 203 W. Va. 621, 623,510 S.E.2d 280, 282 (1998). The Panel was thus 

correct when it previously ruled that, although the Legislature has spoken as to Baby M.'s failure 

to warn claim, Baby M.'s other product claims-including strict products liability and

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