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

ARGUMENT 

I. 	 The Panel Correctly Determined That Michigan Law Governs Plaintiff's Claims 

A. 	 The Law Of The Place Of Injury (Michigan) Governs Plaintiff's Failure To 
Warn Claims, Whether Sounding In Negligence Or Strict Liability 

The Panel correctly determined that Michigan law governs the Plaintiffs claims. (App. 

2730-33.) At the time this action was commenced in 2012, the West Virginia Code stated that 
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"[i]t is public policy of this state that, in detennining the law applicable to a product liability 

claim brought by a nonresident of this state against the manufacturer or distributor of a 

prescription drug for failure to warn, the duty to warn shall be governed solely by the product 

liability law of the place of injury ('lex loci delicti')." W. Va. Code § 55-8-16(a) (2011).3 Here, 

the place of injury is Michigan. Michigan is where Plaintiff's mother resided during her 

pregnancy and where Plaintiff was born and treated for her injuries. 

Plaintiff does not deny that, under the lex loci delicti doctrine, Michigan law controls her 

failure to warn claims. (Pet. Br. at 9l Instead, she argues that § 55-8-16(a) does not apply to 

her "negligence" and "strict liability" claims (id at 9-11), as if West Virginia law recognizes 

"failure to warn" as a separate cause of action distinct from negligence or strict liability. The 

fallacy of Plaintiff's argument can be demonstrated by a single question: What are the elements 

of a failure to warn claim? Under West Virginia law, the answer depends on whether the claim 

is asserted under a theory of negligence or strict liability. For example, in Morningstar v. Black 

& Decker Manufacturing Co., this Court recognized that the lack of adequate warnings or 

instructions was one type of product defect that could be asserted under a theory of strict 

liability. See 162 W. Va. 857,888,253 S.E.2d 666, 682 (1979). Later, in Ilosky v. Michelin Tire 

Corp., this Court set forth the elements of a strict liability claim for failure to warn. See 

3 In 2015, the statute was amended and, as amended, applies "prospectively to all civil 
actions commenced on or after July 1,2015." W. Va. Code § 55-8-16(b) (2015). 

4 In the Court below, Plaintiff also argued that the 2011 version of W. Va. Code 
§ 55-8-16(a) said only that in a failure to warn case, the duty will be governed by the place of 
injury. (App. 2704.) Plaintiff has not made this argument on appeal. As the Panel correctly 
observed, ''the Michigan statute at issue does not merely provide an affirmative defense to 
manufacturers of prescription drugs. It states affirmatively that a drug approved by the FDA is 
not defective, absent one of the exceptions. In other words, under Michigan law, a manufacturer 
meets its duty to provide an adequate warning when it sells a drug accompanied by a label that 
has been approved by the FDA." (App.2732-33.) 
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Syl. Pt. 2, 172 W. Va. 435,437, 307 S.E.2d 603, 605 (1983); see also id. at 441,307 S.E.2d at 

609 (observing "that failure to warn or to provide an adequate warning can amount to a defect 

which triggers strict liability in tort,,).5 Following Morningstar, this Court noted in Johnson ex 

rei. Johnson v. General Motors Corp. that it had not yet determined whether the elements for 

failure to warn under a negligence theory differed from strict products liability. 190 W. Va. 236, 

245 n.5, 438 S.E.2d 28, 37 n.5 (1993).6 The Court need not answer this question in order to 

decide this appeal. It is enough to recognize that a failure to warn claim may be asserted under a 

theory of negligence or strict liability, and that § 55-8-16(a) applies to all failure to warn claims, 

whatever the underlying theory. 

Plaintiff's contention that § 55-8-16(a) applies only to some stand-alone "failure to warn" 

claim separate and apart from negligence and strict liability - a claim that does not exist under 

West Virginia law - would be contrary to the plain and unambiguous language of the statute and 

would render the statute meaningless. Well settled rules of statutory construction preclude such 

5 Plaintiff cites Dosky for the proposition that plaintiffs are not required to elect between 
theories of strict liability, negligence and breach of warranty when their claims are submitted to 
the jury. (Pet. Br. at 10.) This is true, but irrelevant. Dosky did not state that a plaintiff may 
elect between a "failure to warn" claim and a "strict liability" claim. And, as discussed above, it 
is clear that, in Dosky, the failure to warn claim was a strict liability claim. The third cause of 
action referenced by this Court in Dosky was breach of warranty. Plaintiff did not argue in the 
court below and has not argued on appeal that one of her claims was for breach of warranty. 

6 In Morningstar, this Court explained that difference between strict liability and 
negligence as follows: "The cause of action covered by the term 'strict liability in tort' is 
designed to relieve the plaintiff from proving that the manufacturer was negligent in some 
particular fashion during the manufacturing process and to permit proof of the defective 
condition of the product as the principal basis of liability." Syl. Pt. 3, 162 W. Va. at 857, 253 
S.E.2d at 667. In failure to warn claims, however, the relevant question in both strict liability 
and negligence is whether the defendant acted reasonably under the circumstances. As a result, 
the distinction between strict liability and negligence in failure to warn cases is obscured. See 
Muzichuck v. Forest Labs., Inc., 2015 WL 235226, at *8-9 (N.D.W. Va. Jan. 16,2015) (applying 
West Virginia law), appeal dism 'd (4th Cir. Dec. 1,2015). 
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a result. See Martin Distrib. Co. v. Matkovich, Syi. Pts. 2 & 6,238 W. Va. 300, 794 S.E.2d 21, 

22-23 (2016).7 

B. 	 The Panel's Choice Of Law Analysis On Summary Judgment Was Consistent 
With Its Analysis On Defendants' Motion To Dismiss 

Plaintiff distorts the record below when she argues that prior to the motion for summary 

judgment, the Panel had determined that West Virginia public policy precludes application of 

Michigan law in this case. (Pet. Br. at 11-12.) When Defendants moved to dismiss Plaintiffs 

claims on/arum non conveniens grounds, the Panel recognized that it was bound by § 55-8-16(a) 

''to apply the law of the location of injury to each of the subject Plaintiff Families' failure to 

warn claims." (App. 945 'if 57; see also App. 946 'if 62 ("Because the [Michigan and Texas] 

Plaintiff Families filed their complaint after the effective date of § 55-8-16, the Panel is bound to 

apply the law of those states [Michigan and Texas] to the Plaintiff Families' failure to warn 

claims.").) 

Because, at the time, § 55-8-16(a) applied only to failure to warn claims, the Panel 

determined that it was not precluded from applying West Virginia public policy considerations to 

Plaintiffs claims other then failure to warn when deciding Defendants' motion to dismiss on 

grounds of/arum non conveniens. (App. 946 'if 63 ("Although the [Plaintiffs'] claims for failure 

to warn are not subject to a public policy analysis by virtue of W. Va. Code § 55-8-16(a), their 

other claims can still be reviewed under the common law of West Virginia.").) Finding that the 

7 Plaintiff argues that the Panel's interpretation of § 55-8-16(a) would render the 2015 
amendment to the statute unnecessary. (Pet. Br. at 11.) Not so. The 2015 amendment made two 
key changes to the statute that are not impacted by this analysis. First, the statute was expanded 
to apply to all types of products, not just claims involving pharmaceutical products. Second, the 
amendment applies to all categories of product liability claims, not just failure to warn claims. 
For example, the amended statute applies to claims for defective design and manufacturing 
defects. See W. Va. Code § 55-8-16(a) (2015). 
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remedy under Michigan law would be inadequate, the Panel held that Michigan was not an 

adequate alternative forum and denied Defendants' forum non motion as to the Plaintiff. (App. 

947 ~ 64l In other words, at the motion to dismiss stage, the Panel gave the Plaintiff the 

opportunity to develop a claim other than failure to warn, as to which the Panel might not be 

bound by to apply Michigan law. Plaintiff made no attempt to do so, and with good reason. 

Products liability claims fall into three categories: (1) manufacturing defect claims, 

(2) design defect claims, and (3) failure to warn claims. Morningstar, 162 W. Va. at 888, 253 

S.E.2d at 682. Plaintiff has never asserted a manufacturing defect in this case, which left only 

design defect - a claim that was thoroughly addressed in Defendant's Motion for Summary 

Judgment. (App. 1051-55.) As Defendants noted, even if Michigan law were not applied to a 

design defect claim,9 the U.S. Supreme Court's decision in Phillips Petroleum Co. v. Shutts, 472 

U.S. 797 (1985), would bar application of West Virginia law. (App. 1050-51.) In Phillips 

Petroleum, the U.S. Supreme Court held that "for a State's substantive law to be selected in a 

8 Defendants disagree that application of Michigan law would violate West Virginia 
public policy even as to non-failure-to-warn claims. The Michigan legislature chose to bar 
liability for product liability claims in pharmaceutical cases where the defendant has complied 
with the directives of federal law and FDA. This decision is neither unreasonable nor unduly 
harsh or unjust. Rather, it reflects the Michigan legislature'S determination that the FDA is in the 
best position to judge the adequacy and efficacy of pharmaceutical labeling and that litigation 
could adversely affect innovation ofnew medicines. See Garcia, 385 F.3d at 967 (observing that 
the Michigan legislature was concerned about the impact of civil liability on the availability of 
medicines). The fact that Michigan may have reached a different conclusion than the West 
Virginia legislature on this issue does not mean that Michigan's laws violate West Virginia's 
public policy. The elected representatives of Michigan's legislature may enact laws that 
represent the beliefs and values of the majority of its citizens. Although they apply 
prospectively, the 2015 amendment to § 55-8-16(a) reflects the practical consideration that there 
is little reason to have one public policy for failure to warn claims and another for other types of 
claims. Regardless, Plaintiff's decision to abandon any claims other than failure to warn renders 
this issue moot. See infra at 17-18. 

9 For the reasons stated in note 8, Defendants submit that Michigan law would control 
any claim asserted by Plaintiffs. 
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constitutionally pennissible manner, that State must have a significant contact or significant 

aggregation of contacts, creating state interests, such that choice of its law is neither arbitrary nor 

fundamentally unfair." Id. at 818-19 (internal quotes omitted). Here, there is no nexus between 

West Virginia law and Plaintiffs claims. Neither Plaintiff nor Defendants have any relevant 

connections to West Virginia. The only other State with a constitutionally sufficient nexus is 

New York, where Pfizer's principal place of business is located. 

As Defendants argued in their motion for summary jUdgment, proof of an alternative 

feasible design is an essential element of a design defect claim under New York law, whether the 

claim is asserted under a negligence or strict liability theory.1O Moreover, "[a] plaintiff cannot 

satisfy his burden to propose a feasible alternative design by proposing that an entirely different 

product could have been used."ll Accordingly, Plaintiff could not demonstrate a design defect 

under New York law by proffering an alternative design that would so fundamentally change the 

character of Zoloft (such as changing its active ingredient) as to result in an entirely different 

product. 

In response, Plaintiff abandoned any pretext of a design defect claim. Plaintiff argued 

that she was not required to offer proof of an alternative feasible design, because the only claim 

she was pursuing was for failure to warn. (See App. 1768 ("In a use defectiveness, or failure to 

warn, case, 'the focus is not so much on a flawed physical condition of the product, as on its 

unsafeness arising out of the failure to adequately label, instruct or warn. "') (emphasis added); 

10 See Voss v. Black & Decker Mfg. Co., 450 N.E.2d 204, 208 (N.Y. 1983); Wesp v. Carl 
Zeiss, Inc., 783 N.Y.S.2d 439, 441 (App. Div. 2004); Liz v. William Zinsser & Co., 676 N.Y.S.2d 
619,620 CAppo Div. 1998); Rose v. Brown & Williamson Tobacco Corp., 855 N.Y.S.2d 119, 121 
(App. Div. 2008), affd sub nom. Adamo v. Brown & Williamson Tobacco Corp., 900 N.E.2d 966 
(N.Y. 2008). 

11 Hilaire v. DeWalt Indus. Tool Co., 54 F. Supp. 3d 223,248 (E.D.N.Y. 2014); see also 
Felix v. Akzo Nobel Coatings Inc., 692 N.Y.S.2d 413, 414-15 (App. Div. 1999). 
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App. 1768 ("Courts only examine feasible alternative designs in the context of a claim of 

defective design of the product under strict liability."); App. 1769 ("Plaintiffs base their strict 

liability and negligence claims on the theory that Defendants failed to warn the medical 

community and public about the risks of taking Zoloft during pregnancy ....").) 

Plaintiff s exclusive reliance on a failure to warn claim was also clarified by the Panel 

during oral argument. In response to questioning by the Panel, Plaintiff s counsel stated: 

And under West Virginia law - whether you call it a failure to warn case 
or a defective design case - it's really looking at the same thing: What - what are 
we talking about, right? And on a defective design case, where you have a 
product with an inadequate label, then you have a - you've made a case for 
defective design. 

If you have a pipe that is only rated for a certain pressure but that pipe 
doesn't have information about what it's rated for, the design is defective. 

I know, Judge Swope, you've handled, you know, auto product liability 
cases. If you have a tire, it doesn't tell you how much to inflate the tire, so that 
it's either underinflated or overinflated, that tire - that tire is defective. Same 
here. 

The drug is not just the molecule. The drug is in the packaging that it goes 
in, including the warning label. And in this case, the warning is inadequate. The 
warning in this case - and as evidenced and you guys have seen it in the briefing 
- did not contain essential infonnation about the use of the product for women of 
childbearing potential. 

(App. 2705.) Given the Plaintiffs concession that all of her claims were founded on failure to 

warn, the Panel correctly detennined that her claims were governed by Michigan law. 

II. 	 The Panel Correctly Granted Summary Judgment Mter Determining That Plaintiff 
Failed To Meet Her Burden To Demonstrate A Genuine Issue of Material Fact That 
Would Preclude Her Claims From Being Barred By Michigan Law 

Plaintiff does not deny that Section 600.2946 of Michigan's Compiled Laws bars her 

claim in the absence of one of the statutory exceptions - nor could she. Michigan's product 

liability statute clearly provides that a drug product "is not defective or unreasonably dangerous, 

and the manufacturer or seller is not liable, if the drug was approved for safety and efficacy by 
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the [FDA], and the drug and its labeling were in compliance with the [FDA's] approval at the 

time the drug left the control of the manufacturer or seller." Mich. Compo Laws § 600.2946(5).12 

Michigan's highest court has expressly confirmed that in adopting this statute, "the [Michigan] 

Legislature ... determined that a drug manufacturer or seller that has properly obtained FDA 

approval of a drug product has acted sufficiently prudently so that no tort liability may lie." 

Taylor v. SmithKline Beecham Corp., 658 N.W.2d 127, 131 (Mich. 2003) (emphasis added). It 

was undisputed that Zoloft was approved as safe and effective by the FDA and that the Zoloft 

label complied with the FDA-approved labeling(App. 2726), and Plaintiff does not contend 

otherwise. 

Once Defendants met their burden to show that the Michigan statute applied and barred 

Plaintiff's claims, the burden shifted to Plaintiff to show that one of the exceptions applied. 

Cf Powderidge Unit Owners Ass'n v. Highland Props., Ltd., 196 W. Va. 692, 699, 474 S.E.2d 

872, 879 (1996) (once defendant showed that statute of limitations applied, plaintiffs had the 

burden of proving an exception). To meet her burden, Plaintiff was required to "produce 

evidence sufficient for a reasonable jury to find in a nonmoving party's favor." Painter v. Peavy, 

192 W. Va. 189, 192-93,451 S.E.2d 755, 758-59 (1994). 

Plaintiff attempted to rely on Section 600.2946(5)'s "fraud on the FDA" exception, which 

states: 

This subsection does not apply if the defendant at any time before the event that 
allegedly caused the injury does any ofthe following: (a) Intentionally withholds 
from or misrepresents to the United States food and drug administration 
information concerning the drug that is required to be submitted under the federal

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